#### **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Jeanne M. Powell Date

# Distribution of nonapeptide receptors in the forebrain and midbrain of the spiny mouse (*Acomys cahirinus*)

By

Jeanne M. Powell Master of Arts

Psychology

Aubrey M. Kelly, Ph.D. Advisor

Daniel D. Dilks, Ph.D. Committee Member

Kim Wallen, Ph.D. Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

# Distribution of nonapeptide receptors in the forebrain and midbrain of the spiny mouse (*Acomys cahirinus*)

By

Jeanne M. Powell B.A., Cornell University, 2017

Advisor: Aubrey M. Kelly, Ph.D.

An abstract of A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirement of the degree of Master of Arts in Psychology 2021

#### Abstract

#### Distribution of nonapeptide receptors in the forebrain and midbrain of the spiny mouse (*Acomys cahirinus*) By Jeanne M. Powell

The nonapeptides oxytocin (OT) and vasopressin (AVP) play key roles in modulating social behaviors across taxa via the activation of the OT receptor (OTR) and AVP V1a receptor (V1aR). Differences in the distributions and densities of these receptors have been linked to differences in social phenotype both within and across species. However, much of what we know about these systems have been learned using rodent models that do not generally display prosocial behaviors outside of reproductive contexts. The gregarious and communally breeding spiny mouse (Acomys cahirinus) presents a unique opportunity to explore nonapeptide-mediated social behavior because they exhibit high degrees of prosociality in both reproductive and nonreproductive contexts. Here, we provide a basic characterization of neuronal OTR and V1aR binding in spiny mice using receptor binding autoradiography. Across sexes, we observed the highest density of OTR binding in the ventral pallidum (VP), as well as a moderate amount of OTR binding within the subiculum, bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (BNST), and amygdalar nuclei. Robust V1aR binding was observed throughout the brain, with moderate to high binding observed in many olfactory, striatal, amygdalar, thalamic, hypothalamic and midbrain nuclei, as well as the lateral septum, BNST, and VP. This characterization lays a basic foundation for future studies that seek to examine the relationship between nonapeptide receptor density and phenotypic differences in behavior and identifies target regions for causal manipulation to determine direct contributions of nonapeptide circuitry to social behavior in spiny mice.

# Distribution of nonapeptide receptors in the forebrain and midbrain of the spiny mouse (*Acomys cahirinus*)

By

Jeanne M. Powell B.A., Cornell University

Advisor: Aubrey M. Kelly, Ph.D.

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirement of the degree of Master of Arts in Psychology 2021

### Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Drs. Kiyoshi Inoue and Larry Young for assisting with the autoradiography assays. Additionally, we would like to thank Dr. Ashley Seifert for providing us with spiny mouse breeders for our colony, and the Maney Lab for allowing us to use their slide scanner.

## **Table of Contents**

Introduction	1
Methods	4
Animals	4
Tissue Preparation	4
Receptor autoradiography	4
Results	8
OTR binding	8
V1aR binding	9
Discussion	
OTR binding in the spiny mouse	11
V1aR binding in the spiny mouse	14
Limitations	17
Conclusion	
References	
Figures	
- Figure 1	
Figure 2	
Figure 3	
Tables	
Table 1	
Table 2	
Table 3	
Table 4	
Appendix 1	39

#### Introduction

The nonapeptides, oxytocin (OT) and vasopressin (AVP), and their nonmammalian homologs, have been found to modulate social behavior across vertebrates (Caldwell, 2017). These peptides are primarily produced by magnocellular and parvocellular nuclei within the hypothalamus and are widely distributed throughout the brain via parvocellular axonal projections, as well as via magnocellular paracrine signaling (Baribeau & Anagnostou, 2015; Ludwig & Leng, 2006). At target brain regions, they bind to their receptors, including the OT receptor (OTR) and AVP receptor 1a (V1aR). It is through the activation of these receptors that OT and AVP have been shown to modulate a diverse range of social behaviors, including pair bonding (Young & Wang, 2004), parental care (Kelly & Adkins-Regan, 2020), flocking (Kelly et al., 2011), and aggression (Lischinsky & Lin, 2020).

OTR and V1aR regional distributions and densities therein have been characterized across several rodent species (Beery et al., 2008; Freeman et al., 2019; Göldner, 2016; Insel et al., 1994, 1994; Kalamatianos et al., 2010). These studies have revealed both commonalities and variability in the distribution of these receptors across the order *Rodentia*. For example, OTR, V1aR, or both are often found in brain regions known to be important for the regulation of social behaviors, including the nucleus accumbens (NAcc), lateral septum (LS), ventral pallidum (VP), bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (BNST), amygdala, and olfactory nuclei (Caldwell, 2017; Freeman et al., 2020). However, there is still ample variability observed in the density of receptors within those regions across species. Even closely related rodent species have highly variable distributions of V1aR and OTR (Freeman et al., 2019).

Some of the variability observed in V1aR and OTR distributions has functional significance. Comparative studies have revealed that these differences in receptor binding

locations and densities can explain differences in social phenotypes observed across species (Caldwell, 2017; Young & Wang, 2004). For example, within the genus *Microtus*, differences in receptor densities have been causally linked to differences in monogamy-related behaviors, such as pair bonding or a lack thereof, across monogamous and non-monogamous voles (Barrett et al., 2013; Lim, Wang, et al., 2004; Nair & Young, 2006; Wallum & Young, 2018). While studies such as these have advanced our understanding of how the nonapeptide system modulates social behavior, the majority of these studies examine social behavior in reproductive contexts, specifically pair bonding and parental care. In order to determine how nonapeptides may differentially regulate reproductive versus non-reproductive social behaviors, it is imperative to use a species that naturally exhibits such behaviors.

Spiny mice are cooperative breeders that live in large colonies of related and unrelated individuals nested within rocky outcroppings in Africa, the Middle East, and southern Asia (Deacon, 2009; Frynta et al., 2011; Nowak, n.d.). They are prosocial in both reproductive and nonreproductive contexts. In reproductive contexts, they provide alloparental care to unrelated neonates at an equal rate to that which they provide to their own offspring (Porter et al., 1980; Tučková et al., 2016). In non-reproductive contexts, they exhibit low rates of aggression towards novel and familiar individuals alike (Fricker et al., *Under Review at Journal of Mammalogy*). Further, they are socially bold, rapidly approaching novel and familiar animals, and exhibit a preference to affiliate with larger groups (i.e., referred to as gregariousness).

Not only is their social phenotype of key interest given that relatively few non-eusocial rodents display non-reproductive, prosocial behavior, but spiny mice are also highly amenable to lab use. They are already used in labs to study diabetes (Gonet et al., 1966; Shafrir, 2000),

complex tissue regeneration (Gawriluk et al., 2016; Seifert et al., 2012), and menstruation (Bellofiore et al., 2017), and they readily reproduce in captivity.

For these reasons, the spiny mouse (*Acomys cahirinus*) holds immense potential to contribute towards our understanding of how the mammalian brain drives prosocial behavior in *both* reproductive and nonreproductive contexts.

In order for spiny mice to be a valuable organism for social neuroscience studies, we need to first lay a foundation characterizing social neural circuitry given how variable it can be across species. We previously mapped the distribution of nonapeptide-producing neuronal populations in spiny mice (Kelly and Seifert, *In Revision at Neuroscience*), however, there remains a need to characterize distributions of nonapeptide receptors. Here, we performed receptor-binding autoradiography for OTR and V1aR to qualitatively map the distribution of nonapeptide receptors throughout the forebrain and midbrain of male and female spiny mice.

#### Methods

#### Animals

All spiny mice in this study were derived from breeders obtained from the Seifert Lab at the University of Kentucky and maintained at Emory University. Animals were housed in groups of 2-5 same-sex siblings in either a GR1800 Double Decker for Rats (Tecniplast, West Chester, PA, USA) or a standard polycarbonate rat cage. They were provided *ad libitum* water and Purina Prolab RMH 1000 (Lab Diet, St. Louis, MO, USA). The colony room was maintained at an ambient temperature of 24°C +/- 1°C and kept on a 14 h:10 h light/dark cycle (lights on at 7:00 AM). All procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Emory University (Protocol #201900126).

#### **Tissue Preparation**

All subjects were adults (female n = 8; male n = 8) aged between PND 60 and 270. Subjects were euthanized by CO<sub>2</sub> inhalation, and their brains were dissected and immediately frozen on powdered dry ice. The brains were then wrapped in tinfoil and stored in a -80°C freezer.

Brains were thawed to -20°C and coronally cryosectioned at 20 µm thickness onto two sets of Superfrost Plus slides (Fisher Scientific Co., Pittsburgh, PA, USA) at 200 µm intervals. Brain-mounted slides were again stored in the -80°C freezer until further processing.

#### **Receptor autoradiography**

#### Labeling

Receptor binding autoradiography for OTR and V1aR was performed on two sets of tissue from each brain. Notably, spiny mouse brain tissue is extremely fragile. During the OTR

assay, much of the tissue was damaged during washes and therefore the V1aR assay was performed using the bare minimum amount of tissue agitation needed for each wash.

Briefly, slides were thawed and then post-fixed in 0.1% paraformaldehyde for 2 minutes. They were washed in two changes of 50 mM Tris Buffer for 10 minutes each and transferred to binding chambers where they were immersed in I-125 Tracer Buffer for 1 hour. Slides labeled for OTR and V1AR were exposed to I-125 OVTA and I-125 LVA, respectively. Slides were then washed at 4°C in four changes of Tris and Magnesium Chloride Buffer for 5 minutes each. They were then dipped in sterile ultra-pure deionized water and dried completely. Slides were apposed to film in the dark along with a standard curve. Unfortunately, the standard curve used was expired and could not be used further in this study. Slides labeled for V1aR binding were exposed for 4 days. Slides labeled for OTR binding were exposed for 9 days.

#### Imaging

Films were digitized using an Epson Perfection V700 photo scanner (Epson, Suwa, Nagano, Japan) with the home mode document type text/line art setting at 2500 dpi. Each image was saved as an 8-bit grayscale image, with pixel gray values ranging from 0 to 255, where a value of 0 represents a black pixel and a value of 255 represents a white pixel. Therefore, gray values are negatively correlated with receptor binding densities.

#### *Qualitative mapping*

The receptor binding density for each region was determined in a semi-quantitative manner that allowed for a qualitative assessment of density variability across brain regions and subjects. Radioactivity transfers onto film in a non-linear fashion (Zilles et al., 2002). While a darker/lower gray value qualitatively represents a greater density of ligand binding in a region, the magnitude of difference in radioactivity represented by two gray values is difficult to

determine in the absence of a radioactive standard curve. Because we lacked a standard curve and best practice could not be followed, we opted to qualitatively measure the density of binding observed in each region and subject, as opposed to a more traditional quantitative approach. Notably, this approach was employed to ensure consistency in what was and was not considered receptor binding across regions and individuals and is only a place holder until we are able to perform this assay optimally.

Images were pseudo-colored using a customized lookup table in FIJI that allowed for consistent assessment of relative binding densities across regions and brains (Figure 1a; Schindelin et al., 2012). FIJI's measurement tool was used to determine the gray values associated with background noise and the densest observed binding. Pixels with an intensity greater than 98 were considered background, and the darkest binding was found to have a gray value of 18. This 80-point difference was used to make four gray value bins of functionally equal size that represented high (0-50; red), medium (51-66; yellow), low (67-82; green), and barely detectable (83-98; blue) receptor binding (Figure 1b). Background pixels with gray values ranging from 99 to 255 were pseudo-colored as a spectrum from black to white to allow for visualization of the surrounding tissue morphology. Then, a gaussian blur with a radius of 5 was applied both to minimize noise in the images and also to have a region be more represented by its average gray value. Again, while this qualitative method allowed for a more objective mapping, the bin values themselves are fairly arbitrary and more work is required to determine whether areas that express "barely detectable" receptor binding are indeed showing extremely low levels of binding or nonspecific binding.

Brain regions were identified using the Allen Mouse Brain Atlas (Lein et al., 2007), as well as previous mapping studies using receptor ligand autoradiography in rodents (Chappell et al., 2016; Freeman et al., 2019; Lim, Murphy, et al., 2004; Smith et al., 2017). Brain region binding densities were marked as high, medium, low, or barely detectable based on the highest amount of expression present in the region (e.g. a region that shows yellow [medium] and green [low] will be marked as medium) and variability was determined by comparing this qualitative value across all subjects. Only regions that showed at least low binding densities in at least one brain were considered here.

#### Results

I-125 OVTA and I-125 LVA bound to several regions in the forebrain and midbrain of the spiny mouse, described in more detail below.

#### **OTR** binding

We observed I-125 OVTA binding across several brain regions, namely olfactory areas, cortical areas, hippocampal areas, striatal areas, the pallidum, the amygdala, the hypothalamus, the thalamus, and the midbrain (Table 1).

Binding was observed in both sexes in the accessory olfactory bulbs (AOB), anterior olfactory nucleus (AON), medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC), piriform area (PIR), pyramidal layer of the field CA1 (CA1sp), subiculum (SUB), nucleus accumbens (NAcc), bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (BNST), globus pallidus (GP), ventral pallidum (VP), basolateral amygdala (BLA), central amygdala (CeA), medial amygdala (MeA), posterior amygdalar nucleus (PA), posterior hypothalamic area (PHA), ventralmedial hypothalamus (VMH), paraventricular nucleus of the thalamus (PVT), reticular nucleus of the thalamus (RT), and periaqueductal gray (PAG). Though not further described, a low density of binding was observed in the molecular layers of the cerebellum and a medium density of binding was observed in the nucleus raphe pallidus in the hindbrain. Notably, binding in the lateral septum (LS) or caudate putamen (CP) were only observed in some individuals and only at "barely detectable" gray values. The only region to be observed in one sex was the claustrum (Cl), which was only observed in females.

All regions with detectable binding in both sexes displayed variable receptor binding densities across individuals, except for the PVT in males which only showed a low density of binding across all male subjects. Though both sexes displayed binding in the PA, males

displayed higher and less variable binding densities than females, with all but one male showing a high density of binding in that region.

High density binding was observed in at least one individual within the BNST, VP, and PA in both sexes. Additionally, at least one female displayed high density binding in the SUB, GP, CeA, and MeA.

The only regions to display high density binding generally across individuals, as defined by the modal density level, were the VP in both sexes and PA in males.

#### V1aR binding

We observed I-125 LVA robust binding across several brain regions, namely olfactory areas, cortical areas, hippocampal areas, striatal areas, the pallidum, the amygdala, the hypothalamus, the thalamus, and the midbrain (Table 2). Of note, a low density of binding or higher was observed throughout the hypothalamus and midbrain, though only a few nuclei within were assessed for variability across subjects.

Binding was observed in both sexes in the agranular insular area (AI), AOB, AON, main olfactory bulb, glomerular layer (MOBgl), olfactory tubercle (OT), mPFC, PIR, induseum griseum (IG), LS, NAcc, BNST, VP, BLA, CeA, MeA, PA, lateral hypothalamic area (LHA), medial mammillary nucleus (MM), medial preoptic area (MPOA), PHA, periventricular hypothalamic nucleus, posterior part (PVp), VMH, zona incerta (ZI), lateral dorsal nucleus of thalamus (LD), ventral part of the lateral geniculate complex (LGv), medial geniculate complex (MG), paraventricular nucleus of the thalamus (PVT), anterior pretectal nucleus (APN), PAG, superior colliculus (SC), substantia nigra, reticular part (SNr), and ventral tegmental area (VTA). Though not further described, medium to high densities of binding were observed in the cochlear nuclei and medulla, motor region (ME-mot) within the hindbrain. There were no regions observed that only displayed binding in one sex.

Most regions with detectable binding in both sexes displayed variable receptor binding densities across individuals, except for the LS (high density in both sexes), AOB (high density in males), NAcc (high density in males), and LD (medium density in females).

High density binding was observed in at least one individual within all measured regions except for the LD and SNr females and the LGv in both sexes. Further, numerous regions in the, namely in the olfactory, striatal, and amygdalar areas had high modal densities across both sexes. binding, +++: high density receptor binding, \*: low levels of binding or higher were observed throughout the entire region and only a subset of nuclei are described. The modal density represents the density most often observed within a sex. Two symbols indicate a bimodal distribution. The density range represents the full range of densities seen within a sex.

#### Discussion

The present study mapped OTR and V1aR binding densities in the forebrain and midbrain of the spiny mouse and made qualitative comparisons of receptor binding densities across regions and individuals. We observed receptor binding in regions known to play important roles in modulating social behavior across species, such as OTR binding in the LS, NAcc, BNST, VP, MeA, BLA, and VMH, as well as V1aR binding in the LS, NAcc, BNST, VP, MeA, BLA, VMH, PAG, and VTA.

We observed variability in receptor binding densities across most brain regions, which is consistent with the level of variability seen in other genetically diverse rodent species, such as the prairie vole (Phelps & Young, 2003). This naturally occurring variability will allow for the exploration of how naturally occurring variation in nonapeptide receptor distributions link to differences observed in social phenotypes across individuals within this species.

Previous studies have observed higher OTR and V1aR binding densities in males compared to females (Dumais & Veenema, 2016). While we did observe denser OTR binding in the PA in males compared females, the qualitative metric used to compare binding densities across individuals did not allow for statistical comparison across the sexes. Therefore, it is possible that this difference is not significant and also that there may be sex differences that we have not yet been able to detect.

#### **OTR** binding in the spiny mouse

We observed OTR binding across the forebrain and midbrain in regions consistent with that of other rodents (see Table 3). Notably, we observed relatively high-density OTR binding in the VP, a moderate level of binding in the NAcc, and an apparent absence of OTR binding in the LS, and will therefore focus our discussion on these brain regions.

To our knowledge, the spiny mouse is only one of three rodents reported to have a high density of OTR binding in the VP, and only one of four to have any observed OTR binding in this region (see Table 3). The Norway rat (*Rattus norvegicus*) and the colonial ice rat (*Otomys*) sloggetti robertsi) both have high density OTR binding in the VP and are notably both groupliving species, though the Norway rat lives in smaller groups whereas the ice rat lives in larger groups (Beery et al., 2008; Chappell et al., 2016; Göldner, 2016; Modlinska & Pisula, 2020; Willan, 1990). Of particular interest is the colonial ice rat, a group-living and communallybreeding rodent in the mountains of South Africa (Göldner, 2016; Willan, 1990). Like the spiny mouse, the colonial ice rat does not discriminate between novel and familiar conspecifics, which may facilitate group living. Interestingly, the solitary vlei rat (Otomys auratus), a close relative to the colonial ice rat, has no observed OTR binding in this region, suggesting that speciestypical group size may influence OTR expression in the VP (Göldner, 2016). Unfortunately, no studies have directly or indirectly assessed functions of VP OTRs. However, future study of OTRs in the VP of spiny mice may provide insight into the mechanisms that drive group living in mammals.

We observed a moderate amount of binding of OTR in the NAcc of both male and female spiny mice. The role of OTR in the NAcc has been well studied in relation to social attachment. For example, Olazábal and Young (2006a) found in prairie voles (*Mircrotus ochrogaster*) that higher OTR densities were correlated with higher expressions of spontaneous maternal care by virgin females and that blocking OTR in the NAcc blocked maternal behavior. Although spiny mice are non-monogamous, as communal breeders, both virgin and sexually-experienced males and females indiscriminately care for young, perhaps suggesting that NAcc OTR may play a primary role in caregiving (i.e., parental and alloparental) across species. OTR in the NAcc has also been studied in relation to social stress and social approach, whereby activation of OTR in the NAcc facilitates social approach and reduction of OTR following social stressors inhibits social approach (Williams et al., 2020). We have found that spiny mice readily approach both novel and familiar conspecifics at rapid rates (Fricker et al., *Under Review*). Modulation of OTR in the NAcc may provide insights into the mechanism that drive social boldness in spiny mice.

NAcc OTR expression also differentiates social phenotype in some species. For example, group-living rodents, such as the colonial ice rat and naked mole rat (*Heterocephalus glaber*), have higher levels of OTR binding in the NAcc compared to their solitary counterparts, the vlei rat and cape mole rat (*Georychus capensis*), respectively (Table 3; Beery et al., 2008; Freeman et al., 2020; Kalamatianos et al., 2010). NAcc OTR expression also distinguishes mating system in voles, such that the socially monogamous prairie vole has higher densities of OTR in the NAcc compared to the non-monogamous meadow vole (*Microtus pennsylvanicus*; Ross et al., 2009). Therefore, OTR expression in this region may play a general role in social attachment rather than specifically promoting grouping behavior or monogamy. Given that spiny mice exhibit a diversity of prosocial behaviors in reproductive and non-reproductive contexts, future studies can seek to determine potential multidimensional roles of NAcc OTR in behavior.

Perhaps the most striking finding is the absence of OTR binding in the LS. OTR in the LS has been studied in rodents in relation to maternal and allomaternal behaviors, as well as social dominance (Curley et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2019; Olazábal & Young, 2006a). In mice, OTR binding densities in the LS positively correlate with the frequency of nursing bouts (Curley et al., 2012). However, in vole species, OTR binding densities in the LS negatively correlate with allomaternal behavior (Olazábal & Young, 2006b). As discussed above, spiny mice show robust

maternal and allomaternal care to young, and therefore future studies of OTR in this region may provide insights into the neural mechanisms that underly maternal and allomaternal behavior.

There is conflicting evidence across species as to whether this difference in OTR binding in the LS amounts to differences in social phenotypes. The social tuco-tuco has less OTR binding in the LS than its solitary relative, Haig's tuco-tuco (Beery et al., 2008). Similarly, the monogamous and family-group living prairie vole has less OTR binding in the LS as compared to the promiscuous and solitary montane vole (*Microtus montanus*; Freeman et al., 2020) These data suggest that LS OTR may negatively correlate with prosocial behaviors. However, this finding has not been replicated in mole rats, where neither the eusocial naked mole rat nor the solitary cape mole rat have observed OTR binding in the LS (Kalamatianos et al., 2010). This finding also has not been replicated in *Otomys*, but in the opposite direction where both the group-living and solitary species show high levels of OTR binding in the LS. Future studies may shed light on the role OTR in the LS plays in group living among mammals.

#### V1aR binding in the spiny mouse

We observed V1aR binding across the forebrain and midbrain in regions consistent with that of other rodents (see Table 4). Here, we will focus our discussion on two regions that displayed high density binding to V1aR, the LS and BNST, as well as the olfactory bulbs.

V1aR in the LS is known to modulate social recognition, anxiety, and aggression (Bielsky et al., 2005). For example, Bielsky et al. found in mice that injection of a V1aR antagonist impairs social recognition, whereas overexpression of V1aR in the LS increases social recognition, but also increased anxiety. V1aR in the LS may facilitate group living by increasing social recognition and decreasing aggression. Though generally spiny mice show low levels of aggression, there is variability across individuals with some acting highly aggressively towards their familiar cage mates (unpublished observation). Further, social recognition may be important for maintaining relationships within a large group. Future studies in spiny mouse V1aR can explore the role the receptor plays in modulating aggression and social recognition within the LS.

V1aR binding in the LS has been observed in every rodent in which the receptor distribution has been characterized (Freeman et al., 2020). LS V1aR expression is thought to distinguish mating system in voles, given that the socially monogamous prairie vole has lower densities of V1aR in the LS compared to the non-monogamous montane vole (Sadino & Donaldson, 2018). However, comparison between the spiny mouse and Mongolian gerbil (*Meriones unguiculatus*) is not consistent with this observation (see Table 4). The Mongolian gerbil is a monogamous close relative to the communal spiny mouse in the *Muridae* family. Both the spiny mouse and the Mongolian gerbil have high density V1aR binding in the LS (Vallet et al., 1995). Further studies are needed to disentangle the role V1aR plays in mating systems versus group living.

BNST V1aR is thought to promote prosocial behavior by facilitating social interaction (Duque-Wilckens et al., 2016). It is also associated with modulating social valence and reward as it is a part of the mesolimbic reward system and Social Decision-Making Network (O'Connell & Hofmann, 2011). Given that spiny mice readily approach and positively interact with novel and familiar animals alike, it would be interesting to manipulate BNST V1aR in this species to see whether it alters gregariousness.

BNST V1aR binding has been observed in many rodents, though it is interestingly absent in the *Ctenomys* genus. A recent meta-analysis by Freeman et al. (2020) determined that V1aR binding distributions are more consistent within than across genue in rodents, suggesting that within-genus comparison of V1aR distributions is more appropriate than comparing across distant species.

We observed high density V1aR binding in the MOBgl of the spiny mouse. Olfactory neural circuits that include both the olfactory regions and reward areas are known to modulate pair bonding in prairie voles (Young & Wang, 2004). It has been proposed that prairie voles may associate the smell of a partner with reward, which facilitates pair bonding. Indeed, olfaction is a key sensory modality for rodents to integrate social information, and further V1aR binding tends to exist within regions that reflect an animal's primary sensory modality (Grebe et al., 2021). Therefore, it is unsurprising that we observed high density binding of V1aR in the MOBgl, as well as the AOB.

Consistent with Freeman et al.'s (2020) finding that V1aR is more consistently distributed between closely related species as opposed to more distant ones, the spiny mouse's V1aR distribution was more like that of the Mongolian gerbil as compared to the social tuco-tuco even though their social phenotypes are more similar (see Table 4). Many regions with observed receptor binding in the spiny mouse were also observed in its close relative, the Mongolian gerbil (Vallet et al., 1995). Notably, while there was robust binding observed throughout all nuclei in the hypothalamus and midbrain in the spiny mouse, the Mongolian gerbil only had binding in some hypothalamic and midbrain nuclei. The spiny mouse also appears to have more binding within the thalamus as compared to the Mongolian gerbil. In contrast to the spiny mouse who lives in large groups of related and unrelated individuals and communally breeds, the Mongolian gerbil lives in family groups and is monogamous (Gromov, 2011). Given their close phylogenic relationship and differing social phenotypes, future studies could explore V1aR functional significance within regions that differ in their densities between these two species.

#### Limitations

While these data serve as the first basic mapping of OTR and V1aR distributions in the spiny mouse brain, much remains to validate these findings. First, it is necessary to perform a competitive binding assay to ensure that the radioligands I-125 OVTA and I-125 LVA are indeed specifically binding to OTR and V1aR, respectively, and not non-specifically binding to other areas within this species. In the absence of this validation, it is difficult to draw any definitive conclusions from these data.

Secondly, as discussed in the methods, we were unable to use a standard curve to map grayscale values on to known amounts of radioactivity, and our resulting qualitative method did not allow for any statistical comparisons. We plan to redo these assays using standard curves and properly measure the amount of radioactivity in each region such that we will not only be able to be more quantitative about what we do and do not call high, medium, or low receptor binding, but also be able to make comparisons across sexes.

Additionally, brain regions were identified using only the autoradiograms. Between the lack of tissue markers displayed on autoradiograms and the lack of a standard spiny mouse brain atlas, it is possible that brain regions were inaccurately identified. Therefore, in future iterations we will stain adjacent slides using Nissl which will allow us to better visualize the tissue morphology and more confidently identify nuclei.

Lastly, it was not terribly apparent what gray value distinguished true background from extremely low levels of receptor binding. In order to determine whether a region is indeed displaying some receptor binding, we will label mRNA in adjacent slides using fluorescent in situ hybridization.

#### Conclusion

The findings here provide the first steps toward a basic characterization of distributions of OTR and V1aR binding in the forebrain and midbrain of the spiny mouse. Notably, we observed dense OTR binding in the VP and NAcc, and an absence of OTR binding in the LS. Additionally, we observed robust V1aR binding throughout the hypothalamus and midbrain, with the densest binding occurring in the LS. Future studies are needed to determine whether individual regions modulate aspects of the spiny mouse's social phenotype via modulation of the OT and AVP systems.

#### References

- Baribeau, D. A., & Anagnostou, E. (2015). Oxytocin and vasopressin: Linking pituitary neuropeptides and their receptors to social neurocircuits. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 9, 21.
- Barrett, C. E., Keebaugh, A. C., Ahern, T. H., Bass, C. E., Terwilliger, E. F., & Young, L. J. (2013). Variation in vasopressin receptor (Avpr1a) expression creates diversity in behaviors related to monogamy in prairie voles. *Hormones and Behavior*, 63(3), 518–526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2013.01.005
- Beery, A. K., Lacey, E. A., & Francis, D. D. (2008). Oxytocin and vasopressin receptor distributions in a solitary and a social species of tuco-tuco (Ctenomys haigi andCtenomys sociabilis). *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *507*(6), 1847–1859. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.21638
- Bellofiore, N., Ellery, S. J., Mamrot, J., Walker, D. W., Temple-Smith, P., & Dickinson, H.
   (2017). First evidence of a menstruating rodent: The spiny mouse (Acomys cahirinus).
   *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 216(1), 40.e1-40.e11.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2016.07.041
- Bennett, N. C., & Jarvis, J. U. M. (1988). The reproductive biology of the Cape mole-rat, *Georychus capensis* (Rodentia, Bathyergidae). *Journal of Zoology*, 214(1), 95–106. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7998.1988.tb04989.x
- Caldwell, H. K. (2017). Oxytocin and Vasopressin: Powerful Regulators of Social Behavior. *The Neuroscientist*, 23(5), 517–528. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858417708284
- Chappell, A. R., Freeman, S. M., Lin, Y. K., LaPrairie, J. L., Inoue, K., Young, L. J., & Hayes,L. D. (2016). Distributions of oxytocin and vasopressin 1a receptors in the Taiwan vole

and their role in social monogamy. *Journal of Zoology*, 299(2), 106–115. https://doi.org/10.1111/jzo.12332

- Chu, X., Guarraci, F. A., & Ågmo, A. (2015). Sociosexual behaviors and reproductive success of rats (Rattus norvegicus) in a seminatural environment. *Physiology & Behavior*, 151, 46–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2015.07.005
- Csanády, A., Stanko, M., & Mošanský, L. (2019). Are differences in variation and allometry in testicular size of two sibling species of the genus Mus (Mammalia, Rodentia) caused by female promiscuity? *Mammal Research*, 64(1), 31–38. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13364-018-0393-x
- Curley, J. P., Jensen, C. L., Franks, B., & Champagne, F. A. (2012). Variation in maternal and anxiety-like behavior associated with discrete patterns of oxytocin and vasopressin 1a receptor density in the lateral septum. *Hormones and Behavior*, 61(3), 454–461. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2012.01.013
- Davis, R. M., & Meester, J. (1981). Reproduction and postnatal development in the vlei rat, Otomys irroratus, on the van Riebeeck Nature Reserve, Pretoria. *Mammalia*, 45(1). https://doi.org/10.1515/mamm.1981.45.1.99
- Deacon, R. M. J. (2009). Burrowing: A sensitive behavioural assay, tested in five species of laboratory rodents. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 200(1), 128–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2009.01.007
- Dumais, K. M., & Veenema, A. H. (2016). Vasopressin and oxytocin receptor systems in the brain: Sex differences and sex-specific regulation of social behavior. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, 40, 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2015.04.003

- Duque-Wilckens, N., Steinman, M. Q., Laredo, S. A., Hao, R., Perkeybile, A. M., Bales, K. L., & Trainor, B. C. (2016). Inhibition of vasopressin V1a receptors in the medioventral bed nucleus of the stria terminalis has sex- and context-specific anxiogenic effects. *Neuropharmacology*, *110*, 59–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2016.07.018
- Freeman, A. R., Aulino, E. A., Caldwell, H. K., & Ophir, A. G. (2020). Comparison of the distribution of oxytocin and vasopressin 1a receptors in rodents reveals conserved and derived patterns of nonapeptide evolution. *Journal of Neuroendocrinology*, 32(4). https://doi.org/10.1111/jne.12828
- Freeman, A. R., Hare, J. F., & Caldwell, H. K. (2019). Central distribution of oxytocin and vasopressin 1a receptors in juvenile Richardson's ground squirrels. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 97(7), 772–789. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.24400
- Frynta, D., Cížková, B., & Šumbera, R. (2011). A new member or an intruder: How do Sinai spiny mouse (Acomys dimidiatus) families respond to a male newcomer? *Behaviour*, 148(8), 889–908. https://doi.org/10.1163/000579511X583385
- Gawriluk, T. R., Simkin, J., Thompson, K. L., Biswas, S. K., Clare-Salzler, Z., Kimani, J. M., Kiama, S. G., Smith, J. J., Ezenwa, V. O., & Seifert, A. W. (2016). Comparative analysis of ear-hole closure identifies epimorphic regeneration as a discrete trait in mammals. *Nature Communications*, 7(1), 11164. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms11164
- Getz, L. L., McGuire, B., Pizzuto, T., Hofmann, J. E., & Frase, B. (1993). Social Organization of the Prairie Vole (Microtus ochrogaster). *Journal of Mammalogy*, 74(1), 44–58. https://doi.org/10.2307/1381904
- Göldner, G. T. (2016). Social recognition and telencephalic binding sites of oxytocin in a solitary and a social Otomyine species [University of Pretoria].

https://repository.up.ac.za/bitstream/handle/2263/55857/Goldner\_Social\_2016.pdf?seque nce=5

- Gonet, A. E., Stauffacher, W., Pictet, R., & Renold, A. E. (1966). Obesity and diabetes mellitus with striking congenital hyperplasia of the islets of langerhans in spiny mice (Acomys Cahirinus): I. Histological findings and preliminary metabolic observations. *Diabetologia*, 1(3–4), 162–171. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01257907
- Grebe, N. M., Sharma, A., Freeman, S. M., Palumbo, M. C., Patisaul, H. B., Bales, K. L., & Drea, C. M. (2021). Neural correlates of mating system diversity: Oxytocin and vasopressin receptor distributions in monogamous and non-monogamous Eulemur. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1), 3746. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-83342-6
- Gromov, V. S. (2011). Pair-bonding and parental care in cricetid rodents: A comparative study. *Acta Theriologica*, *56*(1), 23–33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13364-010-0013-x
- Insel, R., Zuoxin Wang, & Ferris, C. F. (1994). Patterns of Brain Vasopressin Receptor Distribution Associated with Social Organization in Microtine Rodents. 12.
- Kalamatianos, T., Faulkes, C. G., Oosthuizen, M. K., Poorun, R., Bennett, N. C., & Coen, C. W. (2010). Telencephalic binding sites for oxytocin and social organization: A comparative study of eusocial naked mole-rats and solitary cape mole-rats. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *518*(10), 1792–1813. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.22302
- Kelly, A. M., Kingsbury, M. A., Hoffbuhr, K., Schrock, S. E., Waxman, B., Kabelik, D., Thompson, R. R., & Goodson, J. L. (2011). Vasotocin neurons and septal V1a-like receptors potently modulate songbird flocking and responses to novelty. *Hormones and Behavior*, 60(1), 12–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2011.01.012

- Kelly, E. M., & Adkins-Regan, E. (2020). Do nonapeptides regulate parental care depending on experience in zebra finches? *Hormones and Behavior*, 117, 11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2019.104603
- Lacey, E. A. (2004). Sociality Reduces Individual Direct Fitness in a Communally Breeding Rodent, the Colonial Tuco-Tuco (Ctenomys sociabilis). *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*, 56(5), 449–457.
- Lacey, E. A., Braude, S. H., & Wieczorek, J. R. (1998). Solitary Burrow Use by Adult Patagonian tuco-tucos (Ctenomys haigi). *Journal of Mammalogy*, 79(3), 986. https://doi.org/10.2307/1383106
- Lee, W., Hiura, L. C., Yang, E., Broekman, K. A., Ophir, A. G., & Curley, J. P. (2019). Social status in mouse social hierarchies is associated with variation in oxytocin and vasopressin 1a receptor densities. *Hormones and Behavior*, *114*, 104551. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2019.06.015
- Lein, E. S., Hawrylycz, M. J., Ao, N., Ayres, M., Bensinger, A., Bernard, A., Boe, A. F.,
  Boguski, M. S., Brockway, K. S., Byrnes, E. J., Chen, L., Chen, L., Chen, T.-M., Chi
  Chin, M., Chong, J., Crook, B. E., Czaplinska, A., Dang, C. N., Datta, S., ... Jones, A. R.
  (2007). Genome-wide atlas of gene expression in the adult mouse brain. *Nature*,
  445(7124), 168–176. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05453
- Lim, M. M., Murphy, A. Z., & Young, L. J. (2004). Ventral striatopallidal oxytocin and vasopressin V1a receptors in the monogamous prairie vole (Microtus ochrogaster). *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 468(4), 555–570. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.10973

- Lim, M. M., Wang, Z., Olazábal, D. E., Ren, X., Terwilliger, E. F., & Young, L. J. (2004). Enhanced partner preference in a promiscuous species by manipulating the expression of a single gene. *Nature*, 429(6993), 754–757. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02539
- Lischinsky, J. E., & Lin, D. (2020). Neural mechanisms of aggression across species. *Nature Neuroscience*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-020-00715-2
- Ludwig, M., & Leng, G. (2006). Dendritic peptide release and peptide-dependent behaviours. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 11. https://doi.org/doi:10.1038/nrn1845
- McGuire, B., & Novak, M. (1986). Parental Care and its Relationship to Social Organization in the Montane Vole (Microtus montanus). *Journal of Mammalogy*, 67(2), 305–311. https://doi.org/10.2307/1380883
- Modlinska, K., & Pisula, W. (2020). The Norway rat, from an obnoxious pest to a laboratory pet. *ELife*, 9, e50651. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.50651
- Nair, H. P., & Young, L. J. (2006). Vasopressin and Pair-Bond Formation: Genes to Brain to Behavior. 21, 7.
- Nowak, R. M. (n.d.). Walker's mammals of the world. John Hopkins University Press.
- O'Connell, L. A., & Hofmann, H. A. (2011). The Vertebrate mesolimbic reward system and social behavior network: A comparative synthesis. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 519(18), 3599–3639. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.22735
- Olazábal, D. E., & Young, L. J. (2006a). Oxytocin receptors in the nucleus accumbens facilitate "spontaneous" maternal behavior in adult female prairie voles. *Neuroscience*, *141*(2), 559–568. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2006.04.017
- Olazábal, D. E., & Young, L. J. (2006b). Species and individual differences in juvenile female alloparental care are associated with oxytocin receptor density in the striatum and the

lateral septum. *Hormones and Behavior*, *49*(5), 681–687. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2005.12.010

- O'Riain, M., & Faulkes, C. (2008). African mole-rats: Eusociality, re- latedness and ecological constraints. In *Ecology of social evolution* (pp. 205–220). Springer-Verlag.
- Phelps, S. M., & Young, L. J. (2003). Extraordinary diversity in vasopressin (V1a) receptor distributions among wild prairie voles (Microtus ochrogaster): Patterns of variation and covariation. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 466(4), 564–576. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.10902
- Porter, R. H., Cavallaro, S. A., & Moore, J. D. (1980). Developmental Parameters of Mother-Offspring Interactions in Acomys cahirinus. Zeitschrift Für Tierpsychologie, 53(2), 153– 170. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0310.1980.tb01047.x
- Ross, H. E., Freeman, S. M., Spiegel, L. L., Ren, X., Terwilliger, E. F., & Young, L. J. (2009).
   Variation in Oxytocin Receptor Density in the Nucleus Accumbens Has Differential
   Effects on Affiliative Behaviors in Monogamous and Polygamous Voles. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(5), 1312–1318. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5039-08.2009
- Sadino, J., & Donaldson, Z. (2018). Prairie voles as a model for understanding the genetic and epigenetic regulation of attachment behaviors. *ACS Chemical Neuroscience*, 25.
- Schindelin, J., Arganda-Carreras, I., Frise, E., Kaynig, V., Longair, M., Pietzsch, T., Preibisch,
  S., Rueden, C., Saalfeld, S., Schmid, B., Tinevez, J.-Y., White, D. J., Hartenstein, V.,
  Eliceiri, K., Tomancak, P., & Cardona, A. (2012). Fiji: An open-source platform for
  biological-image analysis. *Nature Methods*, 9(7), 676–682.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2019

- Seifert, A. W., Kiama, S. G., Seifert, M. G., Goheen, J. R., Palmer, T. M., & Maden, M. (2012). Skin shedding and tissue regeneration in African spiny mice (Acomys). *Nature*, 489(7417), 561–565. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11499
- Shafrir, E. (2000). Overnutrition in spiny mice (Acomys cahirinus): B-cell expansion leading to rupture and overt diabetes on fat-rich diet and protective energy-wasting elevation in thyroid hormone on sucrose-rich diet. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev*, 12.
- Singleton, G. (1983). The Social and Genetic Structure of a Natural Colony of House Mice, Mus muscuhs, at Healesville Wildlife Sanctuary. *Australian Journal of Zoology*, 12.
- Smith, C. J. W., Poehlmann, M. L., Li, S., Ratnaseelan, A. M., Bredewold, R., & Veenema, A. H. (2017). Age and sex differences in oxytocin and vasopressin V1a receptor binding densities in the rat brain: Focus on the social decision-making network. *Brain Structure and Function*, 222(2), 981–1006. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-016-1260-7
- Tučková, V., Šumbera, R., & Čížková, B. (2016). Alloparental behaviour in Sinai spiny mice Acomys dimidiatus: A case of misdirected parental care? *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*, 70(3), 437–447. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-016-2065-7
- Vallet, P., Bouras, C., Barberis, C., Dreifuss, J. J., & Dubois-Dauphin, M. (1995). Vasopressin binding in the cerebral cortex of the mongolian gerbil is reduced by transient cerebral ischemia. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 362(2), 223–232. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.903620206

Wallum, H., & Young, L. J. (2018). The neural mechanisms and circuitry of the pair bond. 12.

Willan, K. (1990). Reproductive biology of the southern African ice rat. Acta Theriologica, 35, 39–51. https://doi.org/10.4098/AT.arch.90-5

- Williams, A. V., Duque-Wilckens, N., Ramos-Maciel, S., Campi, K. L., Bhela, S. K., Xu, C. K., Jackson, K., Chini, B., Pesavento, P. A., & Trainor, B. C. (2020). Social approach and social vigilance are differentially regulated by oxytocin receptors in the nucleus accumbens. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 45(9), 1423–1430. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-020-0657-4
- Young, L. J., & Wang, Z. (2004). The neurobiology of pair bonding. *Nature Neuroscience*, 7(10), 1048–1054. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1327
- Zilles, K., Schleicher, A., Palomero-Gallagher, N., & Amunts, K. (2002). Quantitative Analysis of Cyto- and Receptor Architecture of the Human Brain. In *Brain Mapping: The Methods* (pp. 573–602). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012693019-1/50023-X

## Figures



Pseudo-coloring of grayscale images to determine relative binding densities. (a) Customized lookup table with each box representing the color assigned to each pixel with grayscale intensities from 0 (black) to 1 (white); (b) assigned color and receptor binding density based on grayscale value; (c) representative grayscale image showing OTR binding on the left and V1aR binding on the right; (d) the pseudo-colored image with Gaussian blur.





Representative OTR binding across the spiny mouse brain. Scale bar represents 5 mm.





Representative V1aR binding across the spiny mouse brain. Scale bar represents 5 mm.

## Table 1

	Female		Male		
Region	<b>Modal Density</b>	<b>Density Range</b>	Modal Density Density Rang		
Olfactory areas					
AOB	+	-,+	-	-,+	
AON	+	+,++	+	-, +, ++	
<b>Cortical Areas</b>					
Cl	+	-,+	-	-	
mPFC	+	-,+	+	-,+	
PIR	+	-,+	-, +	-, +	
Hippocampal areas					
CA1sp	-	-,+	-	-,+	
SUB	++	+, ++, +++	+, ++	+, ++	
Striatal areas					
NAcc	++	+,++	++	+, ++	
Pallidum					
BNST	+	+, ++, +++	+, +++	+, ++, +++	
GP	+	-, +, +++	+	-, +, ++	
VP	+++	++, +++	+++	++, +++	
Amygdala					
BLA	++	-, +, ++	+	-, +, ++	
CeA	++	+, ++, +++	++	+, ++	
MeA	++	+, ++, +++	++	+, ++	
PA	+, ++	+, ++, +++	+++	++, +++	
Hypothalamus					
PHA	+	-,+	-,+	-, +, ++	
VMH	-	-, +, ++	+	-, +, ++	

### Thalamus

PVT	+	-, +, ++	+	+
RT	+	-, +, ++	+	-, +, ++
Midbrain				
PAG	-	-, +, ++	-	-,+
Qualitative descript	ion of OTR binding	g in the spiny mouse br	rain. –: indicates l	barely detectable
1 0/	• 1	or binding, ++: mediur dal density represents t	<b>2</b> 1	
within a sex. Two s	ymbols indicate a b	imodal distribution. Tl	he density range r	represents the full
range of densities so	een within a sex			

Table	2
-------	---

	Female		Μ	Male		
Region	<b>Modal Density</b>	sity Density Range Modal Density Density				
Olfactory areas						
AI	+++	-, ++, +++	+++	++, +++		
AOB	+++	++, +++	+++	+++		
AON	+++	-, ++, +++	++	+, ++, +++		
MOBgl	+++	+, ++, +++	+++	++, +++		
ОТ	++,+++	+, ++, +++	++	+, ++, +++		
<b>Cortical Areas</b>						
mPFC	++	+, ++, +++	++	+, ++, +++		
PIR	++	+, ++, +++	++	++, +++		
Hippocampal areas						
IG	++	++, +++	+++	++,+++		
Striatal areas						
LS	+++	+++	+++	+++		
NAcc	+++	+, ++, +++	+++	+++		
Pallidum						
BNST	++	++,+++	++	++, +++		
VP	+++	++,+++	++	++,+++		
Amygdala						
BLA	+++	+, ++, +++	+++	++, +++		
CeA	++	++, +++	++	+, ++, +++		
MeA	+++	++, +++	++, +++	++, +++		
PA	++	++, +++	++, +++	++, +++		

Hypothalamus*				
LHA	++	++, +++	++	++, +++
MM	++	++, +++	+++	+, ++, +++
MPOA	++	++, +++	++	+, ++, +++
PHA	++	++, +++	++	++, +++
PVp	+++	+, ++, +++	+++	+, ++, +++
VMH	++	++, +++	+	+, ++, +++
ZI	++	++, +++	++	+, ++, +++
Thalamus				
LD	++	++	++	+, ++, +++
LGv	+	+,++	++	-, +, ++
MG	+++	++, +++	+++	+, ++, +++
PVT	+++	+, ++, +++	+++	++,+++
Midbrain*				
APN	++	++, +++	++	+, ++, +++
PAG	+++	++, +++	++	+, ++, +++
SC	+++	+++	+++	++, +++
SNr	++	++	+	+, ++, +++
VTA	++	+, ++	++	+, ++, +++

Qualitative description of V1aR binding in the spiny mouse brain. -: indicates barely detectable

receptor binding, +: low density receptor binding, ++: medium density receptor

Mating system	Spiny mouse	Mouse <sup>1</sup>	rat <sup>1,2</sup>	vole <sup>1,2,3</sup>	vole <sup>1</sup>	Ice rat <sup>4</sup>	Vlei rat <sup>4</sup>	tuco <sup>1</sup>	tuco <sup>1</sup>	rat <sup>5</sup>	rat <sup>5</sup>
Grouping	Communal <sup>6</sup> Large <sup>6</sup>	-	Promiscuous <sup>9</sup> Small <sup>10</sup>	Monogamous <sup>11</sup> Small <sup>11</sup>	Promiscuous <sup>12</sup> Solitary <sup>12</sup>	Communal <sup>13</sup> Large <sup>13</sup>	Promiscuous <sup>14</sup> Solitary <sup>14</sup>	Communal <sup>15</sup> Large <sup>15</sup>	Promiscuous <sup>16</sup> Solitarv <sup>16</sup>	Eusocial <sup>5</sup> Large <sup>17</sup>	Promiscuous <sup>18</sup> Solitarv <sup>18</sup>
Olfactory areas AON	+	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	‡	QN		QN	+	6 <b>"</b>	1	QN	ND
Cortical Areas mPFC	+	,	+	ŧ	+	ŧ	+	‡	‡	QN	QN
PIR	+	·	I.	ŧ	‡	+		+		I	+
Hippocampal areas CA1	reas -		+			ŧ			‡	‡	+
Striatal areas LS		‡	+	+	‡	ŧ	ŧ	+	ŧ	,	
NAcc	‡	+	+	+	+	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++				+ + +	
Pallidum											
BNST	+	·	++++	++++	+	+ + +	‡	+	‡	++++	+
VP	+ + +	+	++++++			+++++					DN
Amygdala											
BLA	‡	‡	+	+	+	‡	‡	‡	+++++	QN	ND
CeA	‡		+++++	++++	++++	++++	‡	‡	+	++++	
MeA	‡	++++	+	+	ND	+	++++	++++	++++	‡	
PA	+++++	‡	‡	‡	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+	+	+ + +	+ + +	ŊŊ	QN
Hypothalamus											
HMV		+	++++++	‡	+++++	,	+ +	‡	‡	ŊŊ	ΟN
<b>Thalamus</b> PVT	+	‡	+	ŧ	+	ŧ	‡	+		QN	QN

# Table 3

A comparison of OTR binding densities across rodent species. Spiny mouse binding densities are represented by the modal density across sexes. —: indicates barely detectable receptor binding, +: low density receptor binding, ++: medium density receptor binding, +++: high density receptor binding, ND: no data. 1: Beery et al., 2008, 2: Freeman et al., 2020, 3: Lim, et al., 2004, 4: Göldner, 2016, 5: Kalamatianos et al., 2010, 6: Nowak, n.d., 7: Csanády et al., 2019, 8: Singleton, 1983, 9: Chu et al., 2015, 10: Modlinska & Pisula, 2020, 11: Getz et al., 1993, 12: McGuire & Novak, 1986, 13: Willan, 1990, 14: Davis & Meester, 1981, 15: Lacey, 2004, 16: Lacey et al., 1998, 17: O'Riain & Faulkes, 2008, 18: Bennett & Jarvis, 1988.

# Table 4

Mating system Grouping	<b>Spiny mouse</b> Communal <sup>6</sup> Large <sup>6</sup>	<b>Mouse<sup>1, 18</sup></b> Promiscuous <sup>7</sup> Small <sup>8</sup>	<b>Norway</b> rat <sup>1,2,3</sup> Promiscuous <sup>9</sup> Small <sup>10</sup>	Prairie vole <sup>1,2,4,5</sup> Monogamous <sup>11</sup> Small <sup>11</sup>	<b>Montane</b> <b>vole</b> <sup>1,4</sup> <i>Promiscuous</i> <sup>12</sup> <i>Solitary</i> <sup>12</sup>	Social tuco- tuco <sup>1</sup> Communal <sup>13</sup> Large <sup>13</sup>	Haig's tuco- tuco <sup>1</sup> Promiscuous <sup>14</sup> Solitary <sup>14</sup>	Mongolian gerbil <sup>17</sup> Monogamous <sup>15</sup> Small <sup>16</sup>
Olfactory areas								
AON	++	ND	++	[-]	[-]	-	-	[++]
MOB	+++	+	++	+++	+++	+++	-	++
<b>Cortical Areas</b>								
mPFC	++	-	-	[-]	ND	-	++	[+++]
PIR	++	-	+	+++	++	-	-	+++
Hippocampal a	reas							
IG	++,+++	ND	ND	ND	ND	-	+	ND
Striatal areas								
LS	+++	+++	+++	+	[+++]	++	++	+++
NAcc	+++	-	+	-	ND	+	++	ND
Pallidum								
BNST	++	+	++	+	+	-	-	++
VP	++	+++	-	+++	[+++]	+	++	++
Amygdala								
BLA	+++	-	-	-	-	ND	ND	++
CeA	++	++	++	+	+	ND	ND	+
MeA	+++	-	-	+	+	ND	ND	+
PA	++			[+++]	[-]	[+++]	[+++]	[+]
Hypothalamus								
LHA	++	[++]	[+++]	[-]	[-]	ND	ND	[-]
MM	++	[+++]	[+++]	[-]	[-]	ND	ND	[++]
MPOA	++	[-]	[+]	+	[-]	ND	ND	[+]
PHA	++	[+]	[-]	[+]	[-]	ND	ND	[+++]
PVp	+++	[++]	[+++]	ND	ND	ND	ND	[+++]
VMH	++	[-]	[-]	[-]	[-]	ND	ND	[-]
ZI	++	[+]	[++]	[-]	[-]	ND	ND	[-]
Thalamus								
LD	++	[+]	[+]	+++	+	ND	ND	[-]
LGv	+	[-]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	[-]
MG	+++	[++]	[-]	[+]	[-]	ND	ND	[-]
PVT	+++	[++]	[-]	[++]	[-]	ND	ND	[++]
Midbrain								
APN	++	[-]	[-]	[+++]	[-]	ND	ND	[+++]
PAG	+++	[+]	[++]	[-]	[++]	ND	ND	[++]
SC	+++	++	++	+++	+++	ND	ND	+
SNr	+	[++]	[++]	[-]	[-]	ND	ND	[-]
VTA	++	[+++]	[++]	[+]	[+]	ND	ND	[++]

A comparison of V1aR binding densities across rodent species. –: indicates barely detectable receptor binding, +: low density receptor binding, ++: medium density receptor binding, +++: high density receptor binding, ND: no data, []: density was assessed qualitatively using manuscript figures, multiple designations reflect a bimodal distribution of densities. 1: Beery et al., 2008, 2: Freeman et al., 2020, 3: Smith et al., 2017, 4: Lim, et al., 2004, 5: Insel et al., 1994, 6: Nowak, n.d., 7: Csanády et al., 2019, 8: Singleton, 1983, 9: Chu et al., 2015, 10: Modlinska & Pisula, 2020, 11: Getz et al., 1993, 12: McGuire & Novak, 1986, 13: Lacey, 2004, 14: Lacey et al., 1998, 15: Tchabovsky et al., 2019, 16: Gromov, 2011, 17: Vallet et al., 1995, 18: Dubois-Dauphin et al., 1996.

# Appendix 1

## Abbreviations

AI	Agranular insular area
AH	Anterior hypothalamus
AOB	Accessory olfactory bulb
AON	Anterior olfactory nucleus
APN	Anterior pretectal nucleus
BLA	Basolateral amygdala
BNST	Bed nucleus of the stria terminalis
CA1sp	Field CA1, pyramidal layer
CeA	Central amygdala
CL	Claustrum
CN	Cochlear nuclei
СР	Caudate putamen
GP	Globus pallidus
Нрс	Hippocampus
IG	Induseum griseum
LD	Lateral dorsal nucleus of thalamus Ventral part of the lateral geniculate
LGv	complex
LHA	Lateral hypothalamic area
LS	Lateral septum
MeA	Medial amygdala
MG	Medial geniculate complex
MM	Medial mammillary nucleus
MOBgl	Main olfactory bulb, glomerular layer
mPFC	Medial prefrontal cortex
MPOA	Medial preoptic area
MY-mot	Medulla, motor related
NAcc	Nucleus accumbens
ОТ	Olfactory tubercle
PA	Posterior amygdalar nucleus

PAG	Periaqueductal gray
PHA	Posterior hypothalamic area
PIR	Piriform area
PIR	Piriform area
PVp	Periventricular hypothalamic nucleus, posterior part Paraventricular nucleus of the
PVT	thalamus
RPA	Nucleus raphe pallidus
RT	Reticular nucleus of the thalamus
SC	Superior colliculus
SNr	Substantia nigra, reticular part
SUB	Subiculum
VMH	ventralmedial hypothalamus
VP	Ventral pallidum
VTA	Ventral tegmental area
ZI	Zona incerta